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Bocksdorf 
Was Baksafalva (Kroat: Pukštrof); Village of about 800 in the Güssing district. Various historical facts are:  

In 1668 Count Christoph BATTHYANY gave a ¾ sessio to Peter MISICS, ¼ sessios to Mert PELZMANN, Adam KRIBER, Michael LAISZ, Philipp HANS and Mert TIMSEL, for faithul services.

Data from the 1750 Urbarium: Georg POTZMANN (Richter), Matthias ERNST, Matthias WAPPEL, Michael WEBER, Paul STROBEL. Surnames: PELZMANN (11), POTZMANN (7), ISOVICH (4), POMPER (5), ROSENKRANZ (4), STETTNER (4), LAMMINGER (3), WEINGRÜLL (2), KNAR (2), FLECK (2), STROBEL (2), POSCH (2), TREIBER (2), PUBER (2), ERKINGER (2), SCHABHÜTL (2), ROHRBECKER, DECKER, STABER, SAUERZOPF, FUIK, OSWALD, KOBER, OFFNER, SCHRETTNER, GARTLER, ROSNER, WEINBERGER, ERNST, KRAMMER, HAMMER, WAGNER, EBERHARD, LAGLER, HOBIZAN, FISCHL, WAPPEL, STÄR, BAUMGARTNER, CSAR, HASELBACHAR, NEUBAUER, WEBER.

The mill rented by Matthias WAPPEL. The mill still existed in 1930, newly built by Julius TECHET.

64 casualties in WW I. 695 inhabitants in 1812, 767 in 1832, 1490 in 1930 (in 200 houses).

Bocksdorf is an old parish, was Lutheran in the 17th century. In 1698 the villages Olbendorf, Rohr and Heugraben belonged to Bocksdorf parish, of which Heugraben was Croatian, the others were German. Today's church built 1777-79. Priests: Georg SCHAGER (1698), Matthias MARINICS (1738-44), Matthias BEHOVCHICH (1744-71), Jakob KOVACSICS (1771-78), Georg LEGATH (1778), Johann SZOKOLY (1778-83), Matthias HUTTER (1783-1808), Josef SCHAFFER (1808-45), Georg SCHAFFER (1845-74), Josef EBERHARD (1874), Josef STERR (1874-84), Vinzenz PEHAM (1884), Franz HATZL (1884-1904), Josef BENCSICS (1904-14), Ludwig KISS (1914-27), Anton HAWRANEK (1927-28), Karl HOLZERMANN (1928-29), Gregor Wilhelm NAUEN (1929), Father Karl BAYER (1929-). Teachers: Martin GRASINGER (1751), Georg DERGOSICS (1757), Josef GRASINGER (1780), Andreas DORR (1804 - at least 1812), Franz SCHREINER (1832), Anton KUBICK (1838-59), Johann PAVALEK (died 1864 at the age 34), Johann ILLETITS (1876), Josef FELDHOFER, Karl SCHULLER (1884-99), Heinrich CZADILEK (1899-1926), today (1930): Hans GILL, Franz STROBL, Fritz DWORSCHAK and Mizzi WILFING (180 pupils)

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 20/1957-1/1958; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999. 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Baksafalva [VAULT INTL Film 700651]

http://www.burgenland-bunch.org/V_Histories/%25VH_Frame.htm

Königsdorf
Village of 750 residents in the Jennersdorf district.

Some inhabitants lent money to the Counts Batthyany: Hans GRAFF (1644), Peter GRÖLLER (1644), Andreas UNGER (1645), Hans WEBER (1693), Mattez WAGNER (1694).

Families mentioned in 1693-Urbarium: 5 UNGER; 4 KOHL, FISCHL; 3 TAPLER, LEITGEB, KURZ, GUTTMANN; 2 AUGUSTIN, KANDL, PERL, HANZL, GRAFF, HOLL, BERT; 1 SCHNADICS, KOANICS, FRENCS, KOHLNBAUER, SPERK, WILFINGER, LANG, HARTL, SCHAFLER, ASTL, DEKKER, MOTTEZ, SIMPL, KAEDLER, KUMMER, GOLDSCHMIDT, JOKESZ, TAMEDLER, GRÖLLER, ZOTTER, GIBISER, BAUER, SCHWARZ, RODLER, WEBER, DROTZL, PELZMANN, PUEKESZ, MOZER, KORNTHEUER, BOGNER, MACZOLT, TRINKL, HARTNER, LANDMANN. Of these were free: 2 TAPLER, GRAFF and HOLLER. Söllner families: UNGER, HANZL, MUIK; Söllner families without a house of their own: 2 UNGER; 1 ERNST, WAGNER, HORNER, GSELMANN, TRINKL. Söllner families living in the vineyard hills: HOL, HERTLER, KANZL, PUECHART, WEIDNITZ, DEKKER, KRAUDL, NIKISZ, SCHWARZ, ERNST, MONDSCHEIN, WEINHOFFER, FRISENLACH.

21 houses burned down in 1896. In 1930 the village consisted of 125 houses plus 84 houses in the "Bergen" (hills). Of these 209 houses 6 were deserted. 623 Catholics and 470 Lutherans in 1930.

In 1812: 502 Catholics, 467 Lutherans. Church records started in 1755; 1765-95 the Lutherans are also recorded in the Catholic records.

Catholic priests: Johann Baptist MORLANDER (1698), Johann Ludwig GUMBELSHEIM (-1726), Franz USTLER (1726), Michael RÖKH (1753-79; from Purbach; the entry in the death records says he brought 300 Lutherans back to the Catholic church; he died in 1779, 52 years old); Josef PEHM (1779-1801; died 45 y old), Georg KORPORITS (1801-15; died 49 y old), Josef MLINARICH (1815-58; died 75 y old), Josef EBERHARD (1858-70), Michael SCHWARZ (1870-88), Franz BAUMGARTNER (1888-1913; died 73 y old); Karl NEUBAUER (1914-16), Eduard KÜLLÖS (1916-19), Josef HORVATH (1919-21), Johann FARKAS (1921-26), Josef KOGLER (1926-).

Catholic teachers: Franz DUNST (1757), Johann RESSLER, Franz ZINKE (1782-85), Josef HAFNER (1788-1826), Franz SCHERZER (1826-86), Franz KORNTHEUER (1886-1922), Franz RAFFEL (1922-); Gisela PERNITZ (1923-).

Lutherans: Some expelled Styrians settled here around 1600. Belonged to the Lutheran parish of Zahling in the beginning. Pastors: Philipp SZEKOL (1618-24), Johann PETRASEK (1647). In 1653 Pastor Johann Eduard BAUER (born in Löbenstein) already served in Königsdorf; in 1654 Gregor GÖLDL (the Güssing Abbey Library holds a book with an entry in his handwriting: "Ao 1656 Legitim. possessor est Frid. Greg. Göldl Linz Aust. p. t. Pastor Königsdorfffensis Evangelicus"); in 1665 Benedikt GLAUCK (born in Arela, Silesia); in 1668 Johann WEISBECK (born in Offenhausen, Austria - he had to leave Königsdorf on the orders of Counts Christoph and Paul BATTHYANY in 1670).

In 1783 - Emperor Joseph II had meanwhile (in 1781) allowed to establish Lutheran parishes in communities with at least 100 Lutheran families - the Eltendorf parish was founded, and Königsdorf became a part of it.

Lutheran teachers: Josef MATESZ (1867-1908; born in Königsdorf), Friedrich REPPERT (1908-09), Friedrich MÜHL (1909-11), Samuel BAUER (1911-30). 66 pupils in 1930.

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 4-5/1959; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Királyfalva (Vas) [FHL INTL Films 700675 - 76] 

Kukmirn
Village of 800 residents in the Güssing district.

Old spellings of the village name: Kwgmer, Kwkmer, Kukmer, Kukumirn. Supposed to be derived from the Slavic word "kukma" (hilltop). The village territory consists of the following areas: Dorf (the "core" village), Ungerberg, Pelzmanngraben, Hafnergraben, Schöngrundberg, Jokischberg, Schermanngraben, Watzen, Mausbach, Hofweinriegel, Allersberg, Buchberg, Zelin, Weingartgraben, Anger, Kirchäcker and Kirchtannich. (-berg and -riegel meaning hill, -graben meaning valley.

In 1930 three houses still have straw roofs: # 58 (GAAL), # 97 (MUIK), # 128 (DULD).

The Urbarium of 1693 tells us that the village has been divided into "Deutsch-Kukmer" and "Ungarisch-Kukmer" until 1687.

In 1693 ERNST Jerg was Richter, Geschworene (iurati; members of the village council) were ERNST Hans, STEINER Hans and LACKNER Jerg. Farmer families: ERNST (10), TAMEDL (5), BALICS (5; 3 of them free), PUMM, STEINER, HAFFNER, FLAMISCH, REICHL, BAUER (4 each); LAGLER, NEUBAUER, (3 each); LACKNER, HOANZL, URSCHLER, ENTLER (2 each); MUHR, SCHERMANN, LÖFFLER, SCHLEGL, SLOHOVICS, BAUHEL, GRIESL, HESL, SCHMIDT, PECHHEFFER, SPERK, SALBER, DORNER, FREISMUTH, KARNER, ANTONI, PRANTHWEINER, WILFINGER, SPALK; Söllner living in their own houses: TRINKL, TAMEDL, BREITFELLER (2 each); DEUTSCH, FRAUH, SALBER, KOLNBAUER, LÖFFLER, PEISCHL, STEINER, BAUER, TIRK, KARNER, FASCHING, PEIDL; Söllner without houses (no tax and Robot obligation): PUMM, HOMERICS, LACKNER.

The miller Motez BIBER had to pay 4 florings per year to the Landlord. Most of the farmers owned ¼ sessiones. In 1630 Count Adam BATTHYANY confirms that Ambrosius Ludwig von REICHHARTSPERG has paid 700 florins, for which his vineyards in Kukmirn were freed from all tax obligations. In 1779 Matthias RUIS took over parts of this free vineyard area from one Karl HURLAGAIN.

Notaries: Eduard RATZKY (1854-61), Michael KAPPEL (1861-72; Lutheran teacher; since 1870 the notary of Kukmirn was also responsible for Limbach, Neusiedl, and Eisenhüttl), Ferdinand GIBISER (1872-1911), Bela GIBISER (1911-13), Anton ÖLLÖS (1913-21), Franz KRAMMER (1922-30).

A bicycle club founded in 1928 (16 members in 1930).

Number of inhabitants: 1851: 1210; 1870: 1323; 1930: 1186 (257 Catholics, 939 Lutherans). 950 persons live in America in 1930 (this number includes children born in America!).

Johann EBENSPANGER, famous poet and teacher, was born in in Kukmirn on 3 May 1845. He wrote poems in German and Hungarian, also in the Hianzish dialect. He also wrote the lyrics for a "New Year's Song" to a traditional Kukmirn bagpipe tune. He died on 24 Jan 1903.

Josef WILFINGER, born in Kukmirn on 1 Nov 1874 (parents: Catholic teacher Franz WILFINGER and Juliana SIMON; house # 37; godparents: Michael KONRAD, baker, and Amalia MESZAROS). He became a priest and went to China as a missionary (1898). Severly injured during a robbery, he died in Ringpo, China, in 1905.

Catholic parish: Gerersdorf with Steingraben, Sulz and Rehgraben were parts of the Kukmirn parish until 1789, when the Gerersdorf parish was established. Eisenhüttl, Limbach and Neusiedl remained parts of Kukmirn parish. Catholic church records start in 1777 (baptisms), 1752 (marriages) and 1751 (deaths).

Catholic priests: Johann Christophorus GRIM (1698), Franz Xaver HANN (1735), Ferdinand WAGNER (1754), Franz Xaver HANN (1755), Michael VOLINCS (1772), P. Bonaventura O.F.M. (1775), Matthias HUTTER (1776-80), P. Nicephorus TORNER O.F.M. (1787-1802), Josef HOMPASS (HOMFASS, 1802-05), Josef SCHAFFER (1806-08), Georg SPAITS (1809-43), Paul KRISTALOCZI (1843-52), Stefan KRANZ (1855), Josef EBERHARDT (1855-58), Josef HECHINGER (1858-95), Josef GARTNER (1895-1910), Anton KÖNCZÖL (1910-13), Georg ILLES (1913-17), Julius TOMSITS (1917-30), Gregor PALKOVICH (1930-).

Catholic teachers: Josef BERZKOVICS (1765), Johann SEIER (1776-80), BÖHM (1806), Johann SCHWARZ (1810-12), Andreas DORN (1827), Frans KORSCHINEK (1832), Matthias PISCHOF (1848), Matthias HONDLER (1850), Franz WILFINGER (1874), Johann STINKO (1880), Johann STIPPICS (1898), GRILL, BOMMER, Alois NIEDERMAYER (1904-05), Josef KELLER, Margaritha KÖNCZÖL, Johann PISCHOF, Karl WEBER, Arpad MUGGENBURG, Emil LAZANYI (1922-28), Franz LOIDL (1928-).

Lutheran parish: First known pastors of Kukmirn: Daniel MUMENIUS (1613), Johann KINDL (1618), Johann SZOMMERAOR (SOMMERAUER), Joachim HORNING (1624), Georg SCHILLER (1654), Andreas FLEISCHHACKER (LANIUS, 1666), Christophorus RICHTER (1667).

In 1781 Emperor Joseph II. allowed to establish Lutheran parishes in communities with at least 100 (Lutheran) families, so the Kukmirn parish was established in 1783, Johann SCHMIDAG became pastor. Zahling, Neusiedl, Limbach, Deutsch Kaltenbrunn, Rohr, Neustift, Tobaj and Deutsch Tschantschendorf belonged to this new parish too.

Lutheran pastors: Johann SCHMIDAG (1783-93), Johann Andreas HUTTER (1793-1810), Christian WÜSTINGER (1810-28), Daniel DRUGLANYI (1828-32), Andreas HUBER (1832-66), Johann FÜRST (1866-78), Emanuel LUDWIG (1878-97), Johann RAJTER (1897-). Lutheran teachers: Martin MÜLLER (1786), Johann Jakob SCHWENK, Philipp HELLEPRANDT, Johann KOZMA (1801), Martin MAZARY (1802-05), Johann SCHÖCK (1805-10), Martin MÜLLER (1810-16), Johann BREM (1816-24), Michael KAPPEL (1824-70), Ferdinand KAPPEL (son of Michael, assisting teacher since 1859; 1870-75); two teachers since 1875; first teachers: Ferdinand KAPPEL (1875-1903), Johann HAHN (change name to HANVAI, 1903-12), Josef KARNER (1912-); second teachers: Johann HAHN / HANVAI (1875-1903), Josef KARNER (1903-12), Michael NOTNAGEL (1912-); third teacher since 1930: Eduard KARNER.

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 19/1958-1/1959; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Kukmér [FHL INTL Film 700677] 
Lutheran: Evangélikus Egyház, Kukmér [FHL INTL Film 700678 - 81]
Civil: Kukmér (Vas). Anyakönyvi Hivatal [FHL INTL Films 700325 - 29]

In 1899-1904: Small community of 1484 inhabitants; chair district Németujvár; Court of Justice in Szombathely; district court Németujvár.

Businesses & Proprietors:
Bank- u. Creditinstitute (Bank & Credit Institute): Kukmér község és környéke önsegélyzö egylete mint szövetkezet (Selbsthilfsgenossenschaft)
Spezerei- u. Gemischtwarenhdl. (Spices & Groceries): Kogelmann Johann

Source: Leuchs Adressbuch, Band 18: Ungarn, Kroatien und Slavonien, 1899-1904, 9.Ausgabe
(Leuchs' Directory, Volume 18: Hungary, Croatia and Slavonia, 1899-1904, 9th Edition)

Neusiedl bei Güssing
Village of 580 residents in the Güssing district.

Families listed in the 1693-Urbarium: 7 KHOH; 6 SCHRANGEN; 3 MARTEN, KOGLMANE, KOBER; 2 KESSL, REICHL, BARTHOLOVICS, SCHMIDT, STANNER, KOGLMANN aka WAGNER, KROBOTH, AMTMANN, MUIK, PRAX, PRENTNER, GRAF, MILLNER, TÄCKNER, SCHWARZ, TOFFERL, WOLF, FABIAN, SIEGL, DARICS, CHAH; Söllner: MARTEN, HESSL, BAUER, KOBER, KHOH, FRIDERICS, BARTL, DEUTSCH, WAGNER, KONCZ, BASTL; 2 POMMER, WILFINGER.

Number of inhabitants: 1812: 288 Catholics, 282 Lutherans; 1930: 397 Catholics, 437 Lutherans; ca. 60 persons living in America (in 1930).

Catholic teachers: Josef FREI (1876), LEITNER, KUKU, Franz PINTER, SCHNIDERITS, HORVAT, Paul KORNAUTH (1892), Johann BRUNNER, Julius SZENTGYÖRGYI (1894), PLESZ, DAVID, Adalbert KREM, Katharina ZMARITS, KOCSICS, Ladislaus KLAVSKY (1914-18), Hans GILL (1922-26), Karl SCHUH and Alois DUSCHEK (1926), Wilhelm LOSERT (1926-30), Josef MARLOVITS (1930-);

Lutheran teachers: Samuel LASCHOBER (1871-1912), Matthias TRATTNER (1912-1930).

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 3/1959; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999

Stinatz
Village of 1260 residents in the Güssing district.

North of Stegersbach and Ollersdorf. 

Founded by Croatian immigrants (16th century). In 1910 a Croatian nun from a Dalmatian island in the Adriatic Sea came to Stinatz to collect donations. She spoke the same dialect as the Croatians from Stinatz. This led Father Peter JANDRISEVITS to the conclusion that the ancestors of the Stinatz - Croatians came from the Adriatic shores or from a Dalmatian island. Radoslav LOPASCHITSCH in his book "Oko Kupi i Korá ne" (The area of Kupa and Korane), published in Zagreb 1895, refers to a book by CSAPLOVITS and states that the village name Stinatz is derived from the town of Stenitschnjak in Croatia. This town had 3800 inhabitants in 1577, and was conquered by the Turks in 1580. Some of the Croatian refugees came to the Vas Megye of Hungary via Karlovac in 1582. Oral says that Stinatz has been founded by 12 families. 

From certain customs in Stinatz, Father JANDRISEVITS concluded that some of the first settlers were Greek Catholics. A document of 1689 is signed by the Richter Marko SZTIPSICS and by the Geschworenen Jure TOMSICS, Jure GRANDICS, Peter PIPLICS, Matthe JELESICS, Jure RESETARICS and Miho SZTIPSICS. 

The 1693-Urbarium names the following families: TTimsics (9), Sinkovics (6), Grandics (4), Fabsics (4), Kirincsic (3), Piplics (3), Fumics (2), Kralics, Rothgics, Jelencsics, Kerznar, Blaskovics, Unger, Paur, Hanz, Radosics, Vukicsovics, Gerbovics, Resetarics, Berkovics, Tomsics. 

The 1748-50 - Urbar for "Stynak" names: Sziffkovics (9), Kerencsics (10), Kirincsics (6), Fabsics (5), Resederics (5), Tomsics (14), Grandics (4), Stipsics (3), Piplics (3), Jellencsics (2), Blaskovics (2), Horvatics, Beckovics, Stoitsics, Wifinger and Tschar. Richter was Miko Tomsics, Geschworene: Jure Sziffkovics, Peter Stipsics, Jure Jellencsics, Paul Stipsics, Pave Stiotsits [note: probably should read Stoisits or Stoitsits], Paul Stipsics, Wolf Polaskovics. The 1750-Urbar also says that Count KOTTULINSKY from Neudau (Styria) and his subjects as well as inhabitants of Wörth own land in Stinatz. 

Notaries: Johann Hobel (1847-56), Franz Klepeisz (ca. 1859/60), Anton Weisz (1875-80), Franz Zamadits, Aloys Kakossy (1897-1925), Karl Mliner (1925-30);

Number of inhabitants: 1812: 634; 1842: 760; 1870: 940; 1930: 1086 - all Catholics. 

Fires: 1884: 27 houses burned down; 1909: 27 houses and the vicary.

Belonged to Stegersbach parish until 1790. Priests: Sebastian Robicza OFM (1790-1810), Denat Prössl OFM (1810), Georg Pinter OFM (1811), Georg Teklics (1811-14), Julius Lebenics OFM (1814), Georg Simon Palatin (1814-21), Lukas Korbatsits (1821-28), Johann Fabiankovits (1828-49), Franz Auszernik (1849-50), Georg Majrics (1850-56), Karl Arendas (1856-57), Sidonius Barilits (1858-64), Josef Sterr (1864-68), Vinzenz Kornfeind (1868-75), Ivan Kausz (1876-78), Mark Korvatsits (1878-80), Rudolf Kermann (1880-90), Josef Kollar (1890-92), Stefan Beery (1892-1906), Peter Jandrisevits (1906-24), Lukas Drimel (1924-30). 

Teachers: Andreas Blaskovits (1809-21), Michael Blaskovits, Johann Blaskovits (1847-63), Franz Illetits (1863-76), Michael Derkits (1876-1904), Rudolf Fumits (1904-08), Johann Sabar (1908), Franz Szicherle (1908-23), Josef Liebezeit (1923-30). Second and third teachers in 1930: Helene Liebezeit, Rosina Biricz.

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 9-10/1958; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Stinác [VAULT INTL Film 700706] 
Civil: Stinác (Vas). Anyakönyvi Hivatal [VAULT INTL Films 700564-9]

Tadten
Village of 1350 residents in the Neusiedl am See district.

First mentioned in a document dated 1250, when King Andreas II ruled Hungary: The priest of "Tetuna" donated a vineyard to the Abbey of Csorna. In the centuries to come, the village would be named Tetun, Theten, Taton and Tétény. The origin of the village name is in dispute: Hungarian researchers say it is a Hungarian name, whereas German researchers say it is a German name. (A typical situation for village names in border regions.) 

In 1391 and 1399, the nobles of Tadten sold parts of their property to Johann KESSLER, a German knight from Hamburg, who had come to Hungary to serve in King Sigismund's army. Tadten seems to have remained in the hands of members of the lesser aristocracy throughout the 16th and 17th centuries. Tadten had its "share" of the Turkish sieges of Vienna (1529 and 1683) and of the Bocskay rebellion (1605-06), when parts of the village were destroyed. 

Lutheran preachers were active from 1596 until 1674: Johann PERICH (1596), Peter VODORITS (1600, from St. Niklas), Michael SZEREDI (1612), Thomas SZEREDI (1631), Georg LAZIUS (1640), Georg BOGNÁR (1642), Georg PALLA VON TURÓCZ (1653-59), Stefan HORETZKY (1670-72) and Andreas SÁROSY (1672-74, former teacher in Güns). When the Lutheran Bishop Gregor MUZSAY inspected the parish in 1653, the preacher was already old. The farmers who were present at this inspection were named FALLER, FÉNYES, ANDA, UZSORÁS, GAZDAG, HATOS etc. (apart from Faller all Hungarian names). Martin MARTINIDES was teacher. The inhabitants were mostly Hungarian Lutherans, only a few German and Croatian Catholics. 

A catholic ecclesiastical inspection of 1659 gives the same picture. Another one from 1680 reports that a Francisan Father from Frauenkirchen serves as priest, and Georg VENUS (FÉNYES) is teacher, who has just converted to catholicism. Another inspection of 1693 says that the village is owned by Count Franz Esterházy, Paul Bezerédy, Sigismund Svastich (Schostik) and Peter Balog. Of 650 inhabitants 510 are still Lutherans. The church is said to have been damaged and looted by the Turks in 1683. 

Around 1700 Prince Paul Esterházy took control of the village and counter-reformation started, like everywhere on his properties. The ecclesiastical inspection of 1713 names Johann HÉDERVÁRY (65 y) as priest, and Georg KLEMENS (25 y) as teacher. 

Church records start in 1712. Surnames mentioned there 1712-1760: 
Hungarian names like: SZALAY, SEREGÉLY, LENDVAY, FEJES, MOLNÁR, POLGÁR, EÖZSI, HATOS, HORVÁT, HARASZTI, GRÁTZÓ, NÉMET, SZIJJÁRTÓ, FARKAS, KOPPI (KAPI), ÁRPÁS, GARAI, SZABÓ, MADARÁSZ, EPERJES, KÜMÉHES (KÖMIVES), CSUNYI, WENES (FÉNYES), LAPINCS, BALOG, SÁNTA, SZÁK, KRAJZÁR, NAGY, VARGA, BALÁZS, RÁKÓCZI, ESSÖ, BORS, HÖVE, GULÁS, BUJTÁS, KOMP, PLÓSI, LAKI, KÁNTOR, HUSZAR, GYÖRIG, CSONTOS. 
German names like: HUMMER, MOIK, FÄHNRICH, PILLER, EHMER, PESSL, WALTER, PÖLTZER, KRAIS, LANG, BRASCH, PRETLER, PRETALLER, PILLER, PELTZMANN, EBNER, HÄCK, SCHACK, WERL, MEIDINGER, SCHNEIDER, SATTLER, MÄDL, HERZOG, LEHRNER, GRASS, MACHERL, TEHET, KOHLNBERGER, SCHADEN, MITTENÄCKER, KAPELLER, PAAR, POTZ, NÄGLER, ZORN, GRASSL, ZIMMERMANN, MOLLER, SCHUSTER, FISCHER, HALBAUER, WEISS, STAUDINGER, WAGNER, THELL, HAUPTMANN, LIEBMANN, ZWICKL, SEIBART, KUGLER, GATTINGER, UNGER. 
Croatian names like: HUSSOVITSCH, BURITSCH, KOLLOWITSCH, TURPAK, GOLDENITSCH, PAUKOWITSCH (PALKOWITSCH), WUSCHITSCH. 
Gypsy names like: LÁZÁR, PETRUS, VÖRÖS, TÓKÖZI. 

18th century Catholic priests after Johann Héderváry: Johann Gabriel KOLLER (1718-20), Josef LIEBEL (1720-38), Josef DIAKOVITS (1739-43), Georg MAIER (1743-51), Georg RAAB (1751-53), Franz REICHARDT (1753-93), Franz RAFFEL (1794-1846, died 84 y old after 51 y of service). 

18th century teachers: Franz HORVATH (1718-20, married), Stefan BOROS (1721-28, married with Helene, Maria SEMLER), Michael CHECH (1734, married), Georg ENDRÉDI (1748), Stefan KNAUSS (1750, married with Elisabeth HARASZTI), Paul BOKOR (1752, married with Elisabeth SCHNEIDER), Josef STUPPACHER (1765-68, married), Josef Michael PLEININGER (1777-94, married with Maria GLATZ), Jakob MAIER (1792, married with Therese STUPPACHER), Jakob SZABADOS (1794-99, married). 

The church records also mention the names of Prince Esterházy's local estate managers: DOMSCHITZ (1712), PINTER (1736), HAISSAN (1754), KRAMMER (1763), RIEDL (1792), Michael SEREGÉLY (1793). 

Composer Joseph HAYDN's g-grandfather Kaspar HAYDN was born in Tadten ca. 1630. In 1740 another member of this family, Michael HAYDN, was "Richter" (equivalent of a mayor, but not exactly the same) of Tadten. 

In 1786 the Lutherans of Tadten tried to establish a parish, but it turned out to be too small, so they became a part of Gols parish soon. 

19th and 20th century Catholic priests: Josef KUNTZ (1846-48), Heinrich DUSAR (1848-81), Josef BEHOFSICH (1881-1909), Johann KUCHER (1909-15), Johann FLICKER (1915-47), Josef BALLA (1947-?, from Unterschützen). Until 1802 Andau was a part of Tadten parish. 

Teachers: Georg STUPPACHER (1806), Josef WAITZ (1812), Florian KLAUSS (1820-29), Franz SMOLIK (1822, assistant teacher), Peter SCHÖLL (1835-58, married with Anna SCHEDL), Georg KRESSNER (ca. 1845, assistant teacher, married with Elisabeth PINTER), Gabriel SCHÖLL (1856-58), Michael SCHÖLL (1873-80), Karl NADHERA (1882-88, married), Julius SCHMAL (1888-1927, from Steinamanger), Michael MOLLAY (1927-39, from Oggau, son in law of his predecessor), Simon ROTH (1945-46), Josef MOTAL (1949-?) 

The church records mention the merchant Leopold MAUTNER in and after 1844, and the master baker Ferdinand BRUNNER starting from 1872. 

The Esterházy estate was mortgaged to one Ernst GAUPMANN in 1850. 

Statistical data: 
1720: 36 farmers and 21 Söllner. By nationality: 22 Hungarians, 30 Germans, 5 Croats; 
1833: 146 houses, 810 inhabitants; 1900: 168 houses, 1248 inh. (172 Hungarians, 1076 Germans; by religion: 1125 Catholics, 100 Lutherans, 23 Jews); 
1934: 197 houses, 1548 inh. (1422 Germans, 125 Hungarians, 1 Croat; by religion: 1430 Cath., 111 Luth., 7 Jews). 

Source: Josef Loibersbeck: Am Waasen. In: Volk und Heimat 1966, # 10-13; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch, February 2000 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Tétény [FHL INTL Films 700885 - 86] 
Civil: Tétény (Moson). Anyakönyvi Hivatal [VAULT INTL Films 700384 - 85]


In 1899-1904: Large community of 1189 inhabitants; chair district Magyaróvár; Court of Justice in Györ; municipal court Nezsider.

Businesses & Proprietors:
Spezerei- u. Gemischtwarenhdl. (Spices and Groceries Dealer): Klein Moritz

Source: Leuchs Adressbuch, Band 18: Ungarn, Kroatien und Slavonien, 1899-1904, 9.Ausgabe
(Leuchs' Directory, Volume 18: Hungary, Croatia and Slavonia, 1899-1904, 9th Edition)

Tobaj
Village of 340 residents in the Güssing district.

Inhabitants in 1693: farmers: KELEMEN Hans, JAUZ Hans, FANDL Michl, MATYAS Michl, JAUZ Mert, HARRER Michl, FANDL Michel, DIENER Michl, SVAICZER Andre, SVAICZER Jerg (Richter), FANDL Mattes, SVAICZER Franz, UNGER Jerg, JAUZ Jerg, MEDEVICZ Motez, BABICZ Jerg, BASTL Christian, HARRER Hans, KEPPL Mert, STIMPFL Jerg, TUNSZT Jerg, MATYAS Hans, TIBAJ Ferencz, wife of TIBAJ Ferencz (free), DIENNER Mathes, wife of MOLNAR Ferencz (free), MUR Jerg, TUNSZT Mert, CANNEPES Gregor, RABOLD Jerg, RABOLD Mert, SIMONCSICS Istvan (free), GERGOVICSICS György (free, owner of 2 farms), TUNSZT Hans; Söllner: BABIS Jerg, FABICS Janos, CSERENCSICS Michl and Janos, KOVACS Pal.

Fires: 1897 (houses nr. 26-34 burned down), 1901 (houses 17-25), 1903 (houses 36-41).

18 men from Tobaj lost their lives in WW I. To build them a memorial, and to acquire two bells and a clock for the church tower, Franz LEITGEB (nr. 39) collected 1114 Dollars in America (More than 200 people from Tobaj are living there (in 1928!).)

Church: From 1668 onwards, all baptised children from Tobaj, Deutsch and Kroatisch Tchantschendorf and Tudersdorf are to be found in the Güssing church records. 1789-1874 Tobaj was a parish of its own together with Deutsch Tschantschendorf. Since 19 May 1874 Tobaj is again part of the Güssing parish.

School: Initially, the Tobaj children attended school in Deutsch Tschantschendorf (teacher there in 1757: Johann BERKOVICS). First known teacher in Tobaj: Franz WESSELY (1829). His successors: Franz PETZ (1834-59), Alois FREY and son Josef (1860-70), Johann PERNITZ (1871-74); Karl EIGL (1874-91); his son Innozenz EIGL (1891-92), Emerich ZUPPONITS (1892-97), Eduard HAFNER (1898-1908), Adolf HALLWACHS (1909-11), Nikolaus LEITTICH (1911-12), WONDRICSICS (SARDI in Hungarian) Willibald (1912-19), Josef FABIANKOVITS (1919-).

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 21-22/1956; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Civil: Tobaj (Vas). Anyakönyvi Hivatal [VAULT INTL Film 700600] 
Unterberg (now part of Eisenstadt; Alsó-Kismartonhegy)

Family History Library microfilms: 
Civil: Alsókismartonhegy (Sopron). Anyakönyvi Hivatal [Vault Films 665224, 2351115 Items 1-6]
Source for following: Leuchs Adressbuch, Band 18: Ungarn, Kroatien und Slavonien, 1899-1904, 9.Ausgabe (Leuchs' Directory, Volume 18: Hungary, Croatia and Slavonia, 1899-1904, 9th Edition)

In 1899-1904: Kleingemeinde mit 534 Eiw. Stuhlbez. Kismarton, Gerichtshof Sopron, Bezirksger. (Small community with 534 residents. Chair district Kismarton, court of justice Sopron, circuit court.)

Businesses & Proprietors:
Lederfabr. (Leather Manufacturer): Spitzer Leopold
Schuhmacher (Shoe Maker): Halberstädter Adolf; Pfeiffer Leop.; Vechsler David
Weingrosshdl. (Bulk Wine Dealer): Wolf's Leopold Söhne

Wörterberg (Wörtherberg)
Village of 480 residents in the Güssing district.

Situated in the hills at the border to Styria. Settled by Styrians from Wörth. Also part of the Styrian parish of Wörth. 

A "Conscription der Wörther Berg Söllner im Stinätzer Hotter" (list of Wörtherberg Söllners in Stinatz territory) from 1750 includes the following families: SCHALK (9), PUIKL (5), SUMMER (3), KOPFER, RATH, REICHHART (3 each), TASCHNER, PAUER, WILFING, FRUTZ (FRITZ), GRUEBER (2 each), MUISSER (MUESSE, MUSSY), SALMHOFER, HIRSCHBÖCK, HIRSCHENBERGER, FUKER, PUBER (PIEBER), SCHERER, SCHLOSSER, GEITER, WOLFF, KLÖR, WIETRICH, ZIRFUSZ, IVULSCH (?), WOHLFERTH, BLURR, RAJTSCHULIN, FRAGENHOFER, KRANZ, WURM, LASCHOLL, FOSCHING (1 each). All in all 60 families in 60 houses.

One fourth of Wörtherberg was property of Count SZECHENYI - no Urbar for this part.

An Urbar for 1789 includes: SCHALK (9), RAT (9), PUIKL (6), SUMMER (4), FRAGENHOFER, FRITZ (3 each), REICHHART, WOLF, LASCHAL, PAUER (2 each), KRUMPFUSZ, JANOSCH, KIPFER, SCHLAFER, ROSENBERGER, KRANZ, MARTH, WOHLFAHRT, JADLEN, HESCH, MUESSER, BAUERNHOFER, GURTET, WIEDRICH, PIEBER, PLEYER, TASCHNER, EHRENHOFER, WURM, GLOTZ, SPANN (1 each). A total of 65 families, all BATTHYANY subjects.

Number of inhabitants: 1858: 519; 1870: 606; 1923: 555.

22 casualties in WW I.

Part of Wörth parish since 1818, earlier at times also part of the parishes Neudau and Hartberg. 

Teachers: Georg ADLER (1789), Josef SCHALK (1870), Johann HAMAN (1873-86), Karl MAAR (1886-88), Karl BRUNNER (1888-1925), Oskar POTSCH (1925-30). 

Source: Dr. Josef Loibersbeck's series "Um den Eisenberg", published in "Volk und Heimat" 11/1958; summarized and translated by Albert Schuch 10 Nov 1999 

Family History Library microfilms: 
Catholic: Római Katólikus Egyház, Vörthegy [VAULT INTL Film 700753]  

Forscher die im Burgenland Forschen

Austria

1. Theresia Andruchowitz ; Vienna, Austria 

2. Ladislaus E. Batthyány ; Vienna, Austria 

3. Silvia Nikles-Berner ; Güssing, Burgenland, Austria 

4. Johann Bernthaler ; Guntramsdorf, Lower Austria, Austria 

5. Heidelinde Börner ; Vienna, Austria 

6. Jürgen Brandweiner ; Eisenhüttl, Burgenland, Austria 

7. Ewald Bulfone ; Rust, Burgenland, Austria. 

8. Markus Dobrovits ; Wiener Neudorf, LowerAustria, Austria 

9. Dominik Dorner ; Redlschlag, Burgenland, Austria 

10. Dr. Walter Dujmovits ; Stegersbach, Burgenland, Austria 

11. Walter Dujmovits jun. ; Eisenstadt, Burgenland, Austria 

12. Verena Dunst ; Moschendorf, Burgenland, Austria. 

13. Karl Feher ; Neudorf, Parndorf, Burgenland, Austria 

14. Roman Franz ; Leithaprodersdorf, Burgenland, Austria. 

15. Martin Friedrich ; Graz, Styria, Austria 

16. Otto Fruhmann ; Unterrabnitz, Burgenland, Austria 

17. Irene Gallina-Menyhart ; Vienna, Austria 

18. Klaus Gerger ; Vienna and Güssing, Burgenland, Austria 

19. Petra Gludovatz ; Vienna, Austria 

20. Harald Gold ; Purbach, Burgenland, Austria. 

21. Guenther Gottfried ; Frauenkirchen, Burgenland, Austria 

22. Johannes Graf ; Vienna, Austria 

23. Sylvia Grundner ; Gnadendorf, Lower Austria, Austria 

24. Sylvia Haas ; Vienna, Austria 

25. Alois Haider ; Illmitz, Burgenland, Austria 

26. Viktor Hatwagner ; Horitschon, Burgenland, Austria 

27. Oswald Held ; Graz, Styria, Austria 

28. Josef Günter Hirtenfelder ; Königsdorf, Burgenland, Austria 

29. Viktor & Regina Hladky ; Wiener Neustadt, Lower Austria, Austria 

30. Alfred Hobaus ; Ebreichsdorf, Lower Austria, Austria 

31. Werner Janisch ; Poppendorf, Burgenland, Austria 

32. Franz Michael Koller ; Poppendorf, Burgenland, Austria 

33. Heinz Koller ; Güssing, Burgenland, Austria 

34. Gert Kovats ; Vienna, Austria 

35. Maria Martin Krachler ; Vienna, Austria 

36. Kurt Kuch ; Vienna & Oberwart, Burgenland, Austria 

37. Erich Kumbusch ; Vienna, Austria 

38. Thomas Kurz ; Pöttelsdorf, Burgenland, Austria 

39. Josef J. Laemmermayer ; Vienna & Hochegg, Lower Austria, Austria 

40. Gerhard Lang ; Vienna, Austria 

41. Gerhard H. & Martina Lang ; Rust, Burgenland, Austria 

42. Andreas Lehner ; Kitzladen, Burgenland, Austria 

43. Franz Lehner ; St.Andrä, Burgenland, Austria 

44. Martin Lendl ; Luising, Burgenland, Austria 

45. Ingrid Lichtenberger ; Breitenbrunn, Burgenland, Austria 

46. Otto Limbeck ; Himberg, Lower Austria, Austria 

47. Martina Mikolits ; St. Michael im Burgenland, Austria 

48. Bernhard Mittermann ; Vienna, Austria 

49. Reinhard Möstl ; Graz, Styria, Austria 

50. Hannes Nemeth ; Unterwart, Burgenland, Austria 

51. Christian Öts ; Grosshöflein, Burgenland, Austria 

52. Alfred Peischl ; Gumpoldskirchen, Lower Austria, Austria 

53. Ludwig Perger ; Bruckneudorf, Burgenland, Austria 

54. Martin Pfeiffer ; Mörbisch am See, Burgenland, Austria 

55. Eveline Pilgram ; Klagenfurt, Carinthia, Austria 

56. Ewald Pingitzer ; Sigless, Burgenland, Austria 

57. Ron Pitzl ; Apetlon, Burgenland, Austria 

58. Johann Pointner ; Vienna, Austria 

59. Gerhard Posch ; Eisenberg/Pinka, Burgenland, Austria 

60. Markus K. Prenner ; Horitschon, Burgenland, Austria 

61. Christian Putz ; Vienna and Pinkafeld, Burgenland, Austria 

62. Herbert Rehling ; Bad Tatzmannsdorf, Burgenland, Austria 

63. Walter Reicher ; Eisenstadt, Burgenland, Austria 

64. Christine Reiter ; Vienna, Austria 

65. Julia Ritschka ; Leobendorf, Lower Austria, Austria 

66. Martin Sattler ; Tadten, Burgenland, Austria 

67. Rainer Saurer ; Pinkafeld, Burgenland, Austria 

68. Klaus M. Schaffer ; Kirchfidisch, Burgenland, Austria 

69. Gustav Schermann ; Eltendorf, Burgenland, Austria 

70. Thomas Schranz ; Vienna, Austria 

71. Albert Schuch ; Vienna & Kleinpetersdorf, Burgenland, Austria 

72. Ingeborg Schuch ; Vienna, Austria 

73. Franz Sellmeister ; Wr. Neudorf, Lower Austria, Austria 

74. Lygia Maria Pilz Simetzberger ; Neusiedel bei Güssing, Burgenland, Austria 

75. Thomas Stranzl ; Rust, Burgenland, Austria 

76. Eveline Striok ; Grosshöflein, Burgenland, Austria 

77. Reinhard Strobl ; Kleinmürbisch, Güssing, Burgenland, Austria. 

78. Ilse Szolderits ; Antau, Burgenland, Austria 

79. Otto Tillhof ; Steinberg, Burgenland, Austria 

80. Franz Wappel ; Vienna, Austria 

81. Andreas Werderits ; Hannersdorf, Burgenland, Austria 

82. Martin Wolf ; Mühlgraben, Burgenland, Austria 

83. Stefan Wutschek ; Mannersdorf an der Rabnitz, Burgenland, Austria 

84. Elisabeth Zalka ; Vienna, Austria 

85. Margot Zappe ; Vienna, Austria 

86. Benjamin Roman Zotter ; Graz, Styria and Kukmirn, Burgenland, Austria. 
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